A Simple Guide to Conducting Ground Search and Rescue Detection Experiments

Volume II

Appendixes

Prepared for

U.S. Department of Homeland Security United States Coast Guard Office of Search and Rescue (G-RPR) Washington, D.C. 20593-0001

Contract: HSCG32-04-D-R00005 Task Order: HSCG32-05-J-000023

Potomac Management Group, Inc. 20 May 2006

This page intentionally left blank.

Table of Contents

Appendix A. Modifications for Other Resources	
Appendix B. Search Object Construction	5
Appendix C. Construction and Use of Robel Pole	
(Obstruction Pole)	
Appendix D. Materials and Supplies	13
Appendix E. Suggested Experiments	17
Appendix F. Forms	21
Determining AMDR Worksheet – Adult (6), Child (7), Clue (8)	22
Search Object Location Log (11)	23
Searcher-Participant Log (12)	25
Team Sign-Up (13)	26
Subject Information Sheet (14)	27
Task Assignment Form (15)	28
Data Logger Briefing (16)	29
Team Tracking Log (17)	30
Vision Tests (18)	
Searcher Profile (19)	33
Detection Log (20)	34
Detection Log Scoring Template (21)	36
Detection Scoring (22)	38
Appendix G. Scientific Background	41
"Detectability"	41
Lateral Range	42
Effective Sweep Width	44
"Effort" and "Search Effort" (Area Effectively Swept)	50
Coverage	50
Probability of Detection (POD)	51
Appendix H. POD Illustration	53
Appendix I. References	54

Table of Figures

Figure A-1.	Illustration of a Pilot's Clipboard or Kneeboard.	3
Figure A-2.	Alternative Total Track Distance Method Using Flags and Plates.	3
Figure B-1.	Marked Shipping Tube	. 10
Figure B-2.	Close-up of Tube	. 10
Figure B-3.	Robel Pole View at Four-Meters.	. 11
Figure B-4.	Robel Pole Close-up.	. 11
Figure B-5.	Robel Pole in Ivy.	. 11
Figure G-1.	A lateral range curve (a.k.a. detection profile)	. 42
Figure G-2.	Angle versus range of adult (body) and glove (clue).	. 43
Figure G-3.	A lateral range curve showing effective sweep width	. 46
Figure G-4.	A uniform random distribution of search objects	. 47
Figure G-5.	Effective Sweep Width for a clean sweep	. 48
Figure G-6.	Effective Sweep Width	. 49
	POD vs. Coverage (Koopman, 1946)	

Volume II – Appendixes -- Page 1

This page intentionally left blank.

Appendix A. Modifications for Other Resources

Ground search and rescue uses a wide vary of resources. Some resources primarily find and collect investigative information and it would be difficult or inappropriate to apply effective sweep width theory. Therefore man-trackers, investigators, and tracking/trailing dogs are resources that do not require sweep width experiments. Several other common resources involve humans using visual sighting except the human sensor is located on some type of moving platform. Experiments to determine their effective sweep width values involve only minor modifications to these outlines. Finally experiments using air resources and air-scent dogs require some more extensive modifications and will only be outlined briefly.

Mounted (Horses): The track needs to be appropriate for the skill level of the riders that will be used. The track does not have to be limited to roads and trails if using skilled riders. The placement of search objects will follow all the normal procedures. One major modification is making the Total Track Distance 25-meter/yard flags readable while still mounted. This can be accomplished in several manners. Some suggestions include, using paper plates marked with the distance staked down with the surveyor's flags. This would also allow the numbers to be read more easily. Plates may only need to be placed every 50/100 meters/yards. Paper plates that hold up to rain are also available and may be more appropriate. Flagging tape placed at the rider's height and marked with distance numbers may also be appropriate. A second major modification involves data collection. While mounted it is difficult to write on the detection log. Possible solutions include pilot clipboards or kneeboards (designed to be strapped to a pilot's leg). Several sources can be found on the web.



Figure A-1. Illustration of a Pilot's Clipboard or Kneeboard.



Figure A-2. Alternative Total Track Distance Method Using Flags and Plates.

Trail Runners (ATV, Snowmobile, Vehicles, Motorcycle, Bicycle): All of these resources are typically tasked to run fixed trails or roads. However, in some circumstances they are asked to search lateral distances off-trail or road. Modifications will require changes in AMDR, selection of track, and marking total track distances along the track. The eightlegged star pattern of a typical AMDR may be difficult to perform since it requires crosscountry travel and these mechanized resources require trails or roads. However, since the human eye is still the predominant sensor ground-based AMDR values should provide sufficient lateral ranges for the experiment to succeed. However at typical speeds search objects would be passed too quickly and require far too many objects to make an experiment last an hour. The easiest modification is to take the IDEA generated total track line distance and multiply it by a correction factor. The correction factor would simply be the average speed of the special resource divided by the average speed of a ground searcher (1.75 km/hr). So if an ATV is searching at 20km/hr then the correction factor would be 11.4. So if IDEA generates a course that is 2 km for a ground searcher with 36 search objects, the course would be extended to 22.8 km with the same number of search objects. The marked flags could also be spaced out accordingly. Instead of marked flags every 25 meters they could be spaced out to every 100 meters. Paper plates to make the numbers more readable while staying mounted on the bike should be the same as shown in Figure A-2.

Air Resources: Air resources would require more extensive modification to the experiment. Anyone contemplating an air experiment (rotary or fixed wing) should contact the experimental design team listed on page 41.

Air-Scent Dogs: It may be possible to design and conduct experiments to determine the effective sweep width for an air-scent dog team. However, the experimental design is different from the ground-based experiments. The search object must be an actual human being. A GPS unit that is tracking the actual track taken by the dog must be used. The definition of "detection opportunity" and the method to calculate lateral range require careful definitions. Defining a detection and non-detection are critical to the experiment success. The environmental variables that need to be included also require the length of the shadow of a six-foot pole on level ground and cloud cover. Pilot experiments are still underway to better define all the required elements of an air-scent dog team experiment. Anyone contemplating an air-scent dog experiment should contact the experimental design team listed on page 41.

Appendix B. Search Object Construction

This appendix describes how to build inexpensive, disposable, lightweight search objects that are representative of adults, children, and clues.

Brown or Green Conditions

Adult High-Visibility Search Object	Adult Medium-Visibility Search Object	Adult Low-Visibility Search Object
 Required Materials White Coveralls Orange Vest One cardboard shipping tube for leg Rectangular cardboard box(es) for Chest Tent stake 	 Required Materials Blue Coveralls One cardboard shipping tube for leg Rectangular cardboard box(es) for Chest Tent stake 	 Required Materials White Coveralls Camouflage Paint One cardboard shipping tube for leg Rectangular cardboard box(es) for Chest Tent stake
 Assembly instructions Assemble cardboard boxes Hit corners of leg tube on rock to make easier to insert into coveralls. Insert leg in coveralls Insert chest boxes in. Zip up coveralls Place orange vest on Stake in place. Note: Disposable painter's coveralls are recommended and are quite inexpensive if purchased in quantity. 	 Assembly instructions Assemble cardboard boxes Hit corners of leg tube on rock to make easier to insert into coveralls. Insert leg in coveralls Insert chest boxes in. Zip up coveralls Place on ground white zipper side down. Stake in place 	 Assembly instructions Paint white coveralls with camouflage spray paint (Deep Forest Green #1919 or Earth Brown #1918) available in hardware stores. One can paints two search objects. Allow 2 hours to dry. Assemble cardboard boxes Hit corners of leg tube on rock to make easier to insert into coveralls. Insert leg in coveralls Insert chest boxes in. Zip up coveralls Bring paint to touch up any white spots

Construction of child sized search objects takes advantage of the same adult coveralls. Only the cardboard is not required. The stake should be through the center to hold in place.

Child High-Visibility Search Object	Child Medium-Visibility Search Object	Child Low-Visibility Search Object
Required MaterialsWhite CoverallsTent stake	Required MaterialsBlue CoverallsTent stake	 Required Materials White Coveralls Camouflage Paint Tent stake
 Assembly instructions Take adult white coveralls and fold in head, legs, and then fold in half lengthwise. Fold in half widthwise. Search object should be dimensions 50 cm (20 in) long, 30 cm (12 in) wide, and 13 cm (5") high. Stake in place. 	 Assembly instructions Take adult white coveralls and fold in head, legs, and then fold in half lengthwise. Fold in half widthwise. Search object should be dimensions 50 cm (20 in) long, 30 cm (12 in) wide, and 13 cm (5") high. Place zipper down. Stake in place 	 Assembly instructions Use painted green adult coveralls and fold in head, legs, and then fold in half lengthwise. Fold in half widthwise. Fold in half widthwise. Search object should be 50 cm (20 in) long, 30 cm (12 in wide, and 13 cm (5") height Bring paint to touch up any white spots Stake in place

White gloves are used as a standard clue since they are inexpensive and light. It has been found cheaper to purchase white gloves and paint them, rather than to buy colored gloves.

Clue High Visibility	Clue Medium-visibility	Clue Low-visibility
 Required Materials White glove Red Glowing Orange Fluorescent #3101 Spray Paint 	 Required Materials White glove Blue Spray Paint (Regal Blue Gloss #1901) 	 Required Materials White glove Camouflage Spray paint (either Deep Forest Green #1919 or Earth Brown #1918)
Instructions: Paint the glove fluorescent orange	Instructions: Paint the glove blue	Instructions: Paint the glove brown or green.

Snow (White) Conditions

If snow is on the ground, the colors of the search objects need to be altered to better represent high, medium, and low visibility. For the adult high visibility a second orange vest is added to the coveralls. The adult medium visibility remains the same with the blue coveralls. The low visibility changes to white coveralls or glove.

Adult High Visibility	Adult Medium Visibility	Adult Low Visibility
Instructions: Use white coveralls, adding two orange vests.	Instructions: Use blue coveralls	Instructions: Use white coveralls without vest.
Child High Visibility	Child Medium Visibility	Child Low Visibility
Clue High Visibility	Clue Medium Visibility	Clue Low Visibility
		Le M.

Appendix C. Construction and Use of Robel Pole (Obstruction Pole)

The Robel pole is used to objectively measure the height of ground cover for use on the environmental measures form. The Robel pole is also referred to as an obstruction pole in the scientific literature. While it can be constructed from many different materials the method described will minimize the amount of materials that need to be carried into the field (the shipping tube doubles as the leg of the adult manikin used in the AMDR data collection).

Construction:

Materials:

- 5.2 meters of parachute cord or string.
- Shipping tube (same as used for leg of adult search object)
- Meter ruler
- Red or Black permanent magic marker
- Tape or stapler.
- 1. Gather the required materials.
- 2. On the shipping tube, use the magic marker to mark every 10 centimeters (black electrical tape may also be used to mark every 10 centimeters). Label each 10 centimeter mark from the bottom to the top 1, 2, 3 etc. (Figure B-1).
- 3. If the environment has shorter vegetation, also mark the bottom 20 centimeters in one centimeter increments (Figure B-2.).
- 4. Attach 5.2 meters of string or parachute cord to the bottom of the tube using a stapler or tape. Measure 4 meters of string away from the tube and tie a knot. From the knot, measure 1 meter and trim the remaining string so that it is exactly one meter from the knot.

Figure B-1 shows the shipping tube marked in ten centimeter increments. Figure B-2 shows a close-up of the tube with the one-centimeter increments for the first 20 centimeters.



Use of the Robel Pole in the field:

- 1. Place the Robel Pole at the same spot the search object will be located. It should be flush against the soil. If conditions are windy the Pole may be staked, secured with a heavy object placed in the tube, or held by an assistant.
- 2. Use the string to move 4 meters away from the tube (four meters denoted by the knot).
- 3. Stand on the knot and use the remaining one-meter of string to place eye one-meter above the ground.
- 4. Look at the Robel Pole and note the height (in centimeters) where vegetation completely obscures the scale (Figures B-3 and B-4 give two examples).
- 5. Record the height on the environmental measurements worksheet in the ground cover block.



Robel Pole Use

While the height of some types of vegetation may actually be taller than the measurements obtained from the Robel pole, the Robel pole provides a more consistent measurement that actually corresponds to the amount of biomass above the ground.

Figure B-3 shows how the Robel pole appears from four-meters away in long grass. Figure B-4. is a close-up of the same photo that shows the 20 and 30 centimeter red lines. The black line shows the maximum view of the tube (use the left side that has the scale). The black line corresponds to 15 centimeters. Figure B-5 shows the Robel pole placed in ivy. The ground cover should be read as 18 centimeters.



Pole View at Four-Meters.

Close-up.

Pole in Ivy.

This page intentionally left blank.



One-Time Purchase (Capital equipment needed for experiment)

Appendix D. Materials and Supplies

Required Supplies	Source	Stock #	Web	Phone	Cost/Unit	Unit	aty	Total Price
Human sized target (Blue coveralls)	GSS	COVWC3584	COVWC3584 www.gss-store.com/	888-477-0004	\$27.50	box 25	-	\$27.50
Human sized target (White coveralls)	GSS	COVHB	www.gss-store.com/	888-477-0004	\$24.00	box 25	÷	\$24.00
Paint (determine color)	Local Hardware store				\$4.95	can	0.5/target	\$40.00
Orange vest	Local Sporting store				\$5.00	each	1/target	
Cardboard Boxes (Body, arms, leg)	Local						4/target	
Selected Clue	Local					each	1/target	
Marker Flags (every 25 meters)	Forestry Suppliers	33507	www.forestry-suppliers.com/	800.674.5368	\$4.80	100 flags	2	\$10.00
Marker Flags (every 500 meters)	Forestry Suppliers	33507	www.forestry-suppliers.com/	800.674.5368	\$4.80	100 flags	Ŧ	\$5.00
Marker Flags (waypoints)	Forestry Suppliers	33507	www.forestry-suppliers.com/	800.674.5368	\$4.80	100 flags	4	\$20.00
Marker Flags (every 100 meters)	Forestry Suppliers	33507	www.forestry-suppliers.com/	800.674.5368	\$4.80	100 flags	÷	\$5.00
Permanent Marker	Local office supply					each	2	\$4.00
Flagging Tape	Forestry Suppliers	57905	www.forestry-suppliers.com/	800.647.5368	\$12.24	dozen rolls	÷	\$24.50
Various Forms	Laser Printer							
Waterproof paper (for forms)	Rite-in-the-Rain	8511	www.riteintherain.com/copierpaper.html	253.922.5000	\$23.95	200 sheets	÷	\$23.95
Waterproof paper (for maps)	I-Gage		www.igage.com///eatherP.htm		\$19.95	50 sheets	÷	\$19.95
Extra Pens and Pencils	Local office supply							
							20	
	Comments							
Human sized target (Blue coveralls)	Used for adult sized ta	rrget, stuffed wi	Used for adult sized target, stuffed with cardboard, able to reuse but easier to replace	olace				
Human sized target (White coveralls)	Used for both high and	I low vis adult t	Used for both high and low vis adult target. Painted with spary paint for low vis target. Orange vest placed on for high vis	arget. Orange vest	placed on fo	or high vis		
Paint (determine color)	Used for making low-v	is target. One	can of spray paint makes two adult targets					
Orange vest	For High-vis targets or	IJy. Can be reu	For High-vis targets only. Can be reused, also worn when setting out search objects	ects				
Cardboard Boxes (Body, arms, leg)	For each adult target r	need at least on	For each adult target need at least one large triangular document box for leg, and two rectangular boxes for chest	d two rectangular b	oxes for che	st		
Selected Clue	Hat and gloves can be	purchased loc	Hat and gloves can be purchased locally, buy white and use spray paint as needed	ed				
Marker Flags (every 25 meters)	Need 40 flags for every km of course	y km of course						
Marker Flags (every 500 meters)	Need only one unit (10	00) to mark star	Need only one unit (100) to mark start, every 500 meters and end					
Marker Flags (waypoints)	Depending upon terra	n may need 40	Depending upon terrain may need 40-280 flags per km of course					
Marker Flags (every 100 meters)	Need only one unit (100) to mark start, every 100 meters	00) to mark star	t, every 100 meters					
Darmanant Markar	Naadad to mark flage	t tacel te sures	Needed to mark frace carry at least two in case one dronned in field					

experiment
each
l for
needeo
squipment
Disposable e

Marker Flags (every 500 meters) Marker Flags (waypoints) Marker Flags (every 100 meters) Permanent Marker Marker Flags (every 25 meters)

Waterproof paper (for forms) Waterproof paper (for maps) Extra Pens and Pencils

Various Forms

Flagging Tape

Forms and numbers needed specified in excel worksheet Data logger forms and search profile forms needed to be made on waterproof paper If passing out color maps made with a inkjet

Needed to mark flags, carry at least two in case one dropped in field Used to initially mark trial

The IDEA software will generate the needed amounts of expendable supplies such as search objects, cardboard boxes, flagging tape, and surveyor flags. The formulas are based upon:

- Adult/child size search objects
 - Number of required search objects rounded up to a multiple of 24 (number in box)
 - One cardboard shipping tube per required search object rounded up to a multiple of 12 (number in box). Shipping tubes not required for child sized search objects.
 - Two cardboard "Large Shirt" boxes per adult search object.
 - One stake per search object
 - One orange vest per high visibility search objects (brown or green conditions).
 - Two orange vest per high visibility search object adult (white conditions).
 - One can of Green/brown paint per two low visibility adult search objects (brown or green conditions).
- Surveyor Flags
 - Yellow flags (3 per kilometer)
 - o Lime Green flags (40 per kilometer)
 - o Red flags (200 per kilometer if dense)
 - o Orange flags (10 per kilometer)
 - Flags come in bundles of 100 to the bundle. Colors may be substituted depending upon availability and the type of terrain.
- Flagging tape
 - Three roles per kilometer

This page intentionally left blank.

Appendix E. Suggested Experiments

Experiments can be conducted to not only determine effective sweep widths in different terrains but also to compare different resources, search techniques, specialized equipment, and determine correction factors.

While there are many factors that determine where and what type if experiment a team chooses to perform, the first is what best meets the operational needs of the team concerned. Therefore teams should perform experiments in the type of terrain and vegetation they encounter most frequently on actual searches. Undoubtedly some areas will be covered multiple times while other areas still have not determined effective sweep width values. The major need for experiments is to develop preliminary sweep width values for the major types of land classifications. The three most common types of land encountered on searches are the different types of forest. Forests can be further broken down in several different types of Western and Eastern (USA) forests. Each of the forest types are also further refined by differences found in each ecoregion. Therefore experiments will need to be conducted for each forest type in each ecoregion. Therefore for each area that experiences seasonal variation experiments documenting the green, brown, and white conditions will need to be performed.

National Land Classification Types

- Open Water
- Perennial Ice/Snow
- Low Intensity Residential
- High Intensity Residential
- Commercial/Industrial
- Bare Rock/Sand/Clay
- Quarries/Strip Mines
- Transitional
- Deciduous Forest
- Evergreen Forest

- Mixed Forest
- Shrub land
- Orchards/Vineyards
- Grasslands
- Pasture/Hay
- Row Crops
- Small Grains
- Urban Grasses
- Woody Wetland

Descriptions of each of the following may be found at the NOAA Coastal Services Center (http://www.csc.noaa.gov/crs/lca/tech_cls.html). Determination of how a site is mapped can be determined using the US National Map (http://nationalmap.gov). Use the landcover layer, then the USGS NLCD checkbox.

Forest Types

Each team would also need to know the effective sweep value for each of the different forest types it encounters. Therefore, an experiment should be done in each of the following forests for each ecoregion (see next page for ecoregions). The US National Grid classifies forest as follows:

Eastern Forest Types

- White-red-jack Pine
- Spruce-fir
- Long lead-slash pine
- Loblolly Pine
- Oak-Pine

- Oak-hickory
- Oak-gum-cypress
- Elm-Ash-Cottonwood
- Maple-Beech-Birch
- Aspen

Western Forest

- Douglas-fir
- Hemlock-Sitka Spruce
- Ponderosa Pine
- Western White Pine
- Lodge Pole Pine
- Larch

- Fir-Spruce
- Redwood
- Chaparral
- Pinyon-juniper
- Western Hardwoods

A map showing the classification of forest is linked in the IDEA software. It can also be found using the US National atlas (http://nationalatlas.gov). Use the biology layer and select forest type.

Ecoregions

Each of these forest types will vary somewhat depending upon the ecoregion; therefore, it is important to state the ecoregion in which the experiment is conducted.

Search incidents on land occur in vastly different types of climate, terrain and vegetation. The best method to easily characterize different types of vegetation is with ecoregions. The U.S. Department of Agriculture Forest Service uses ecoregions developed by Robert Bailey (1995) which are based on climate, vegetation, soil, and terrain—but with emphasis on vegetation and terrain. Ecoregions are broken into four major domains: polar, humid temperate, dry, and humid tropical. Almost all of the continental United States falls into either the humid temperate or dry domains. The domains are then further broken down into Divisions (see table below), which are in turn further broken down into Provinces (Figure 1, p. 11).

100 Polar Domain	300 Dry Domain
120 Tundra Division*	310 Tropical/Subtropical Steppe Division*
130 Subarctic Division*	320 Tropical/Subtropical Desert Division
	330 Temperate Steppe Division
	340 Temperate Desert Division*
200 Humid Temperate Domain	400 Humid Tropical Domain
210 Warm Continental Division*	410 Savanna Division*
220 Hot Continental Division*	420 Rainforest Division*
230 Subtropical Division*	
240 Marine Division*	
250 Prairie Division	
260 Mediterranean Division*	

Maps showing the different ecoregions are linked in the IDEA software and can be found on page 11 (Figure 1) in this guide. Online maps may be found on the national atlas (http://nationalatlas.gov) or world-wide maps may be found at the USDA site (http://www.fs.fed.us/institute/ecoregions/eco_download.html).

Correction Factor Experiments

At this time preliminary data has been collected about individual correction factors (fatigue, morale, height, colorblindness, etc). However, experiments have not been conducted for possible major correction factors to sweep width. Possible correction factor experiments include:

- Light levels (day, twilight, night)
- Visibility (clear, rain, snow, fog)
- Wind

Correction Factor experiments should be conducted via two trials. First the experiment is conducted during optimal conditions and the effective sweep width is determined (using a high-visibility adult search object would be mandatory). Then when the desired environmental conditions exist the experiment would be repeated.

For experiments involving light levels the environmental light levels should be measured with a Lux meter. The brightness of searcher's flashlights should also be recorded. Measurement should be made using the same type of beam used for searching and at a distance of one meter from the light source.

For experiments involving meteorological visibility known calibrated distances to high contrast objects should be used. The meteorological visibility for each searcher should be recorded since it is expected to vary throughout the experiment.

Wind as a correction factor is likely to only play a major role in experiments determining effective sweep widths for responsive subjects.

Appendix F. Forms

The forms used in the IDEA spreadsheet are found on the following pages. The numeral in parentheses after the form title corresponds to the worksheet number in the spreadsheet.

Determining AMDR Worksheet – Adult (6), Child (7), Clue (8)

		Detection (AMDR) Work s to quantitate field visibi					
		experiment values on late	,	us chicica wi	in automatioa	iny	
1. Date	2. Time	3. Object T		4. GPS E		GPS N	
5. Location		მ. Terrain T	уре	7. Cloud Cov	/er	8. Precipitati	on
						5	
Storting on I	and move toward th		asurements		o diotonao t	ho torgot we	o firot
		e target until the targe umn. Move backwards					
		e the same distance at					
			a fight angit		g z unu rop		ouuro.
	Leg 7			High Visib	oility (norm	ally Orange	/white)
Average M		Leg 6		-	al #1		d #2
Detection (AMDR)	Range ↓		Leg #	AMDRd	AMDRe	AMDRd	AMDRe
	ε ↓	E	1				
Leg 8 💺			2				
E			3				
		D	4				
/			5				
Leg 1			6				
		Leg 5	7 8			-	
Ţ	K	E	AVG				
1	1/1/	N N	MAX				
	XX Vol	×.	AVG		Ī		
		~	AVGall		<u>II</u> Yards	1	
Leg 2	₹	Leg 4			Taruo		
	\ ↑	telelos del como dissono	Suggester	dequipmer	nt:		
	Leg 3	D = Detection E = Extinguish				nge finder, ta	ape
	×	O = Still able to detect, so walk farther				Vegetative	
		Blue Line = AMDR _F	board, not	ebook, pend	il, Determin	ing AMDR v	work-
		Red Line = AMDR _p	sheet, digi	tal camera,	compass.		
					<i>,</i>		
P	Medium Visibility (no		LC			green/brov	
Leg #	Trial #1 AMDRd AMDRe	Trial #2 AMDRd AMDRe	Leg #	AMDRd	al #1 AMDRe	AMDRd	d #2 AMDRe
1 Leg #		AWDING AWDING	1	AWDING	Ambrid	AWDING	AMDRE
2			2				
3			3				
4			4				
5			5				
6			6				
7			7				
8			8				
AVG MAX			AVG MAX				
AVG	<u> </u>		AVG	I	l 1	.	ļ
AVG L	<u> </u>	<u>_</u>	AVG AVG _{all}	l	Yards	IJ	
AVG _{all}	Yards						

Search Object Location Log (11)

T

Page 1 of 2

					and other measurement eld to facilitate field recor		
(Worksheet) 1. Date	# 10) must also	be printed out and 2. Time	brought into the fiel 3. Location	ld to determine the targe	eted object locations. Prin 14. Name	t on waterproof paper.	
			e. Eeeaaon				
5. Object Type	#1	6. Object Type # 2		7. Object Type # 3	8. Object Type # 4	9. Datum	10. Units
				Instructions	•	•	
wheel or GP Suggested and Rescue reflectors, ro	S odometer. Th Equipment. Lay Detection Exper	e lateral range dis /ing out the course riments"), stake wi al camera, compas	tance should be def will require the follo re flags, permanent	termined by Laser Rang owing: search objects (o marker, flagging tape, (nt along Track Distance (le Finder or tape measure lescribed in "A Simple Gu GPS, Laser Range Finder ing forms on waterproof p	e. ide to Conducting Gro r, measuring tape, stak	und Search kes,
Location #		Track Distance	Lateral Range	Left - Right	Orientation	Elevation	Verification
Example 1	1	28	17	L	180	Up	✓
2							
3							
4 5							
6							
7 8							
9							
10 11							
12							<u> </u>
13							
14 15							
16							
17 18							
19							
20 21							
21							
23							
24 25							
26							
27 28							
29							
30 31							
32							
33 34							
34							
36							
37 38							
39							
40 41							
42							
43 44							
44							
46 47							
47							
49							
50 51							
52							
53 54							
55							
56							

Search Object Location Log (11)

Page 2 of 2

				Instructions			<u> </u>
					nt along Track Distance (d by roller
					e Finder or tape measure lescribed in "A Simple Gu		ound Search
					GPS, Laser Range Finder		
reflectors, rol	ler wheel, digita	l camera, compas:			ng forms on waterproof p		
	. Search Object						
	Object Type	Track Distance	Lateral Range	Left - Right	Orientation	Elevation	Verification
57 58							
59							
60							
61							
62 63							
64							
65							
66							
67 68							
69							
70							
71							
72 73							
74							
75							
76							
77 78							
79							
80							
81							
82 83							
84							
85							
86							
87 88							
88							
90							
91							
92							
93 94							
95							
96							
97							
98 99							
100							
101							
102							
103 104							
104							
105							
107							
108							
109 110							
111							

	-						_						_
		Departure Date/Time											
		Available Until?											
		Arrival Date/Time											
		Emergency Contact											
Print as many copies as needed.		SAR Qualification											
		Organization											
		Printed Name											

Searcher--Participant Log

Team Sign-Up (13)

Team S	ign-Up			1. Location		2. Experiment Date	Projected # searchers
4. Sunrise			5. Sunset		6. Estimated	Avg Completion	7. Actual Avg
participating	g in the ex efore sendi vever, they	periment. Al ng teams co	l attempts unter-clock	should be m wise. Sear	nade to assi chers canno	ams (searcher and da gn teams in the cloc ot function as a searc Data loggers may be	k-wise cher
Гeam		Clock-wise	e			Counter-Clockwis	
Number	Time	Searcher		Data Logg	jer	Searcher	Data Logger
	7:00						
	7:15						
	7:30						
	7:45						
	8:00						
	8:15						
	8:30						
	8:45						
	9:00			L			
	9:15						
	9:30						
	9:45						
	10:00						
	10:15						
	10:30						
	10:45						
	11:00						
	11:15						
	11:30						
	11:45						
	12:00						
	12:15						
	12:30	_					
	12:45						
	13:00						
	13:15						
	13:30						
	13:45						
	14:00			I			
	14:15			L			
	14:30			L			
	14:45						
	15:00			L			
	15:15			L			
	15:30						
	15:45						
	16:00						
	16:15						
	16:30						
	16:45			L			
	17:00						
	17:15						
	17:30			1			
	17:45						

Subject Information Sheet (14)

Subject Ir	format	ion	1. Locatio	'n	2. Date	3. Time
Sheet						
4. Subject Name			<u> </u>		5. Gender	6.Age
Thomas Tema					Male	35
7. Name to Call				8. Expected		
Tom (N/A)				None, sub	ject 100% deaf	
9. Subject's Plan:			: the supposed		he compared log	Luciobal Descarbod
Subject depart	(ed campyr	OUND TO SCOUL OF	Ut survey id	ocations. Last seen at th ve been out of the field e	ne campgiourio iasi	t night. Κεροπεί
10. Physical Des		y this morning.	Shuuruna	11. Photo Changes:		Taken 2002
Height:	5'10"	Weight	175 lbs	Clean-shaven when la		Takeli 2002
Raœ	White	Build	Avg			and the second second second
Eyes	Hazel	Hair	Blond		1 Carlon	
Complexion	Good	Facial hair	Clean			
12. Clothing Des Dark blue pant		ie workshirt. Ma	av		Constant of the second	
		him. May have	<u> </u>		(A)	A AL
orange survey	/vest.Blac	ok boots. May ha	ave			
small backpac	k with asso	orted gear.			p and	
				N DAY	30	
				The standing	Contrating States	A land
				De Lama	110	
					The There is	to the second
the Franking of the	: Distanti				Cherry Cherry and Cherry	Sale and the second second
 Footwear/Tra Vibram sole. 	ick Descriptio	<u>on</u>				
VIDI am Solo.					the second se	
ł						
				-		
h						1.7
						11
				-		
	·			A second second second second	CARLES AND AND AND AND	
14. Incident Sum	mary/Other F	Pertinent Informati	ion			
Cubic st. p.or.kov	d at comp a				have esturned Fride	
Subject parket	a at campy	Fouria. Is a com Lof ovordue rep	(Factor to u	lo survey work. Should l rning. Subject is an insu	nave returned mua	iy nigril.
diabetic and is			on this mor	ning. Subject is an insu	un dependent	
Giabetic and is	totany usa	<u>п. </u>				
ł						
l						
Subj. Info. Sh		15. Prepareo	dby		16. Da	ate Prepared
Worksheet 14	ł					
3/24/2006						

Task Assignment Form (15)

	esource Type: anning #						k Completed tial Completion		
	riority:						ent Follow-Up		
Та	sk Assignment	7. Task Number	8. Team Identifier	9. Resource Type	10. Task Map		11. Datum		
Fc	orm			Ground					
-	12. Task Instructions	1							
	Data loggers serves as team lead	der and will han	dle navigation, f	eam control, and	d radio comr	nunications.			
	Start task as indicated on map ar	nd follow pink fla	lags data logger indicates.						
	Stay on track marked by pink fla	igs at all times.							
	Proceed at a typical search spee	d for a sweep ta	ask. Data logge	r may ask you to	speed up.				
	Do NOT race through the course								
	Upon spotting a search object; st				ect is, and e	stimated rar	ige.		
s	Data loggers will give guidance to		clues that need	to be reported.					
	Do NOT report objects over the r Talk to your data logger to a mini								
	Data logger is responsible for rec		te						
	If you spot another team moving			llow vour data lo	aaers instru	ictions.			
	Upon completing assigned task a				330.0				
Ν	Do not share your results with an	yone until the e	experiment has a	concluded.					
Т									
	13. Previous Search Effort in Area				16. Briefing Checklist Expected time frame				
	Several teams have already walk	red the track tor	day, do not reco	rd or report	Teams nearby				
	tracks.		lay, do not reco	id of tepoli	Encounter with team				
	14. Transportation to Area		15. Equipment		Terrain/Haz				
					Weather/Safety				
					Subject Info	ormation			
					Rescue/Me	dical Plan			
—	17 Polo Nama			Agonov	Modical Co	rtification			
	17. Role Name			Agency	Medical Ce	ertification			
Е	Data Logger			Agency	Medical Ce	ertification			
Е				Agency	Medical Ce	ertification			
E A	Data Logger		19. Communication		Medical Ce	ertification			
E A	Data Logger Searcher		Report to base	ns Instructions when starting ta	sk, at each :	500 m wayp			
E A M	Data Logger Searcher 18. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell:		Report to base and when finish	ns Instructions	sk, at each :	500 m wayp			
E A M C	Data Logger Searcher 18. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell: Team Cell #1:		Report to base	ns Instructions when starting ta	sk, at each :	500 m wayp			
E A M C O	Data Logger Searcher 18. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell:		Report to base and when finish	ns Instructions when starting ta	sk, at each :	500 m wayp			
EAM COM	Data Logger Searcher 18. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell: Team Cell #1: Team Cell #2:	Frequency	Report to base and when finish objects.	ns Instructions when starting ta hing task. Do N G	sk, at each : DT radio in c	500 m wayp clues or sear			
EAM COMM	Data Logger Searcher 18. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell: Team Cell #1:	Frequency	Report to base and when finis	ns Instructions when starting ta hing task. Do N G	sk, at each :	500 m wayp clues or sear			
EAM COMM	Data Logger Searcher 18. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell: Team Cell #1: Team Cell #2: 20. Function Tactical I (Team - Base) Tactical II	Frequency	Report to base and when finish objects.	ns Instructions when starting ta hing task. Do N G	sk, at each : DT radio in c	500 m wayp clues or sear			
EAM COMM	Data Logger Searcher 18. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell: Team Cell #1: Team Cell #2: 20. Function Tactical I (Team - Base) Tactical II Logistics	Frequency	Report to base and when finish objects.	ns Instructions when starting ta hing task. Do N G	sk, at each : DT radio in c	500 m wayp clues or sear			
	Data Logger Searcher I8. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell: Team Cell #1: Team Cell #2: 20. Function Tactical I (Team - Base) Tactical II Logistics Command	Frequency	Report to base and when finish objects.	ns Instructions when starting ta hing task. Do N G	sk, at each : DT radio in c	500 m wayp clues or sear			
EAM COMMO	Data Logger Searcher 18. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell: Team Cell #1: Team Cell #2: 20. Function Tactical I (Team - Base) Tactical II Logistics	Frequency	Report to base and when finish objects.	ns Instructions when starting ta hing task. Do N G	sk, at each : DT radio in c	500 m wayp clues or sear			
EAM COMMO	Data Logger Searcher I8. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell: Team Cell #1: Team Cell #2: 20. Function Tactical I (Team - Base) Tactical II Logistics Command	Frequency	Report to base and when finish objects.	ns Instructions when starting ta hing task. Do N G	sk, at each : DT radio in c	500 m wayp clues or sear			
EAM COMMO	Data Logger Searcher I8. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell: Team Cell #1: Team Cell #2: 20. Function Tactical I (Team - Base) Tactical II Logistics Command	Frequency	Report to base and when finish objects.	ns Instructions when starting ta hing task. Do N G	sk, at each : DT radio in c	500 m wayp clues or sear			
EAM COMMO	Data Logger Searcher I8. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell: Team Cell #1: Team Cell #2: 20. Function Tactical I (Team - Base) Tactical II Logistics Command	Frequency	Report to base and when finish objects.	ns Instructions when starting ta hing task. Do N G	sk, at each : DT radio in c	500 m wayp clues or sear			
EAM COMMO	Data Logger Searcher I8. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell: Team Cell #1: Team Cell #2: 20. Function Tactical I (Team - Base) Tactical II Logistics Command	Frequency	Report to base and when finish objects.	ns Instructions when starting ta hing task. Do N G	sk, at each : DT radio in c	500 m wayp clues or sear			
EAM COMMO	Data Logger Searcher I8. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell: Team Cell #1: Team Cell #2: 20. Function Tactical I (Team - Base) Tactical II Logistics Command	Frequency	Report to base and when finish objects.	ns Instructions when starting ta hing task. Do N G	sk, at each : DT radio in c	500 m wayp clues or sear			
E A M C O M M O	Data Logger Searcher I8. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell: Team Cell #1: Team Cell #2: 20. Function Tactical I (Team - Base) Tactical II Logistics Command Notes/Safety Message	Frequency	Report to base and when finish objects.	ns Instructions when starting ta hing task. Do N G	sk, at each : DT radio in c	500 m wayp clues or sear			
E A M C O M O 21.1	Data Logger Searcher I8. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell: Team Cell #1: Team Cell #2: 20. Function Tactical I (Team - Base) Tactical II Logistics Command Notes/Safety Message		Report to base and when finish objects.	ription	sk, at each : DT radio in c	500 m wayp lues or sear			

Data Logger Briefing (16)

General Briefing	1. Location			2. Date		
-						
Data Logger 3. Task Instructions Data Logger serves as team leader Start task as indicated on map, fol Lime-green flags mark every 25 m Hot pink flags assist with navigation Stay behind the searcher. Record the starting time on your of Your searcher should be encourage Your team should reach the 100 m increase speed. If you reach the speed the point of the p	eters. These will he in and help to mark etection log. If pose yed to move at a typ neter mark (yellow fl 100 meter mark quic of number of clues, ty not related to the sea r didn't find if you co radio. re the search track. s.	the course. S sible radio in yo ical sweep tas ag) within 6 mi ker than 2 min ker than 2 min ypes of clues. arch scenario. overed the cou If they think th	our location w TAY ON THE our starting an k speed. Not nutes. If long utes ask your You may enco rse as a searc ey spot a sea	hen a clue is TRACK d finishing tim racing or movi er, ask your se searcher to si burage search burage search her.	reported. e. ing too slow. earcher to ow down. er to avoid	
Record the time you pass a yellow PASSING RULES: 1) The first time	iag (placed every	n front, slow do	at other waypo	ninutes (unles	s the team	
has stopped; then pass). 2) If you be done when within voice contac recording a sighting. 5) Do not allo sure your searcher stays focused The goal is to avoid one searcher Be sure to report back to base for	catch up to the tear t. 4) Announce you w searchers to disc on searching. 7.) U watching another se	n again, passir are going to p uss clues spot SE COMMON earcher making	ig is allowed. ass, try to ens ted. 6) If your SENSE, i a sighting.	3) Initiating pa ure team is no team was pas 16. Briefing Che Expected time Teams nearb	assing should t in process of seed, make cklist e frame y	
14. Transportation to Area	15. Equip Data loç	ment gging record sh	leet	Encounter with team Terrain/Hazards Weather/Safety Subject Information Rescue/Medical Plan		
Communication Plan						
17. Pertinent Phone Numbers Base: Base Cell: Team Cell #1: Team Cell #2:	Report t	nunications Instruc o base when s en finishing tas	tarting task, a			
19. Function	Frequency	Channel D	escription	Comments		
Tactical I (Team - Base) Tactical II Logistics Command						
20. Notes/Safety Message						
Data Logger 21. Prepared Worksheet 16 3/24/06	by:		22. Briefed by:		23. Time out:	

Data Logger Name
1
I

Vision Tests (18)

Two vision tests will be given to search participants. Visual acuity (20/20) and the Ishihara test for color blindness. The tests should be given by the experiment staff as part of the check-in procedure. The results will be recorded on the Searcher Profile (Worksheet # 19).





Vision Acuity Test

Searcher Profile (19)

Searche	r	1. Name		2. SAR Orgar	nization	3.SAR Sign-Ir	ı Level	4. Date/Time	
Profile									
FOR OFFIC	EUSE	INSTRUCT	IONS: Plea	se complet	e all the rec	uested infor	mation in s	ection A pri	or to
Searcher						ill not be ent			
Number						g section B			
		return from	i you task, p	lease comp	lete section	C (Debriefi	ng). Thank	-You!	-
			Section	A - Search	ner Demog	raphics			
6. Age	7. Gender	9. # of years i	n SAR	10. # of Searc	ches	11. # of Searc	h in Field	12. Regular C	Occupation
	□Male								
	Female								
13. Primary SA								None	
Ground S	Searcher	E Bike SA		Helicop		Ski Patr		_	in rescue
Tracking		ATV SA		Fixed-w		_	ter rescue	USAR	
🗖 Dog Han		_	obile SAR	□ Maritim		Cave re		_	anagement
Mounted		□ 4 x 4 SA	AR	E Fire/EM	S	🗖 Tech. R	escue	C Other:_	
14. SAR Certifi	cations (Pleas	e list)							
			Section	B - Physic	al Charact	oristics			
15. Height w/ b	oots	16. Wear Gla		17. Eyewear i		18. Visual Acu	iity		
		No		□ No				Uncorrected	Corrected
		T Yes		T Yes		1 1	Right		
		🖸 Som	etimes	_			Left		
19. Colorblind?	,	20. Using the	supplied Ishih	ara colorblindr	ness chart, ple	ase record the		A.	B.
□ Yes		-				no numbers se	en.	C.	D.
□ No								E.	F.
				Section C -	Debriefing				
21. Hours on T	ask	22. Morale?		23. Fatigue		24. Estimated	POD		
		🗖 High		Alert					
		Medi	um	🗖 Med	ium		Ob	ject	Est. POD
		Low	_	🗖 Drov	vsy	Object 1	Adult Hig	h-Visibility	
25. Temp	26. Wind Spe	ed	27. Cloud Co	ver (%)	28. Lux	Object 2		v-Visibility	
						Object 3	Child Medi	um-Visibility	
						Object 4		h-Visibility	
29. Light (direc	t, indirect, ove	rcast, darkday	, twilight, night)	30. Precipitati	ion (type and ir	itensity)	Meteorolog	ical Visibility
32.Problems e	nonuntered on	Took/Suggoot	iona/Common	ha .		33. Optional C	Vucation	34.Optional C	vention 2
32.Problems e	incountered on	Task/Suggest	ions/commen	15		55. Optional G	destion	54.Optional G	uesuon 2
35. Are you wi	lling to serve a	is a data logge	r today?	36. E-mail ad	Idress (optiona	al - only if you v	vish to be con	tacted about r	esults)
				D - Data L					
Searcher		Never	Once	Seldom	Frequently	Data logger co encountered	omments, sug	gestions, prob	lems
Looked back						chicodintorod			
Looked sidew						-			
Stopped and						ł			
Scanned syst	tematically					ł			
Talked Wore hat/hoo	d					ł			
wore nat/noc	iu					ł			
Searcher P	rofile	37. Debriefed	by	38. Time		PLEASE M	AKE SUP	E THIS FOR	2M
Worksheet		ST. Deblieled	59	55. Tille		TURNED II			
3/25/2006						THANK-YO			

Detection Log (20)

Detection	1. Searcher's Name	2. Data Logger's Name	3. Location	4. Date
Log				
5. Direction of Movemen	t 🔲 Clockwise (#s increa	asing) 📃 Counterclocl	kwise	-
6. Search Object Type 1	7. Search Object Type 2	8. Search Object Typ	e 3 9. Search 0	Dbject Type 4
The team's location sees, the estimated All sightings should	by placing a dot on the trac range of the object, and an	akes, the data logger shoul of using the wayflags, the tin arrow that gives the relative tching to a known object. A nts specified.	me of the sighting, wha e direction of the object	t the searcher t.



Volume II - Appendixes -- Page 34
Detection Log (Cnt'd)	1. Searcher's Name	2. Data Logger's Name	3. Location	4. Date
5. Direction of Movemer	nt 🔲 Clockwise (#s in	ncreasing) 📃 Countercloo	ckwise	1.2
Search Object Type 1	7. Search Object Ty	pe 2 8. Search Object Ty	/pe 3 9. Search	Object Type 4
The team's location sees, the estimated All sightings should	by placing a dot on the I range of the object, and	er makes, the data logger shou track using the wayflags, the t d an arrow that gives the relati matching to a known object. ypoints specified.	time of the sighting, what ve direction of the object	t the searcher t.



Volume II – Appendixes -- Page 35

Detection Log Scoring Template (21)

Detection Log	Scoring Templat	te	1. Location	
6. Search Object Type 1	7. Search Object Type 2		pe 3 9. Sea	rch Object Type 4
Chart (Worksheet # 10 lateral range, right/left, 4. Copy/print the temp Log (Worksheet # 20) a For each search object) plot the known location and search object type. late onto acetate. Place and determine for each s	Then, using Search Object n of each search object. Pl Indicate the search object e the acetate over each sea search object if a valid dete n Scoring (Worksheet # 22 d.	ot track distance, type by 1, 2, 3 or O archer's Detection totion occurred.) a "1" if a valid	xample bject #4 L=327 R=50 ight
1,000 Yd		2,000 Yd		3,000 Yd
900		1900		2900
				• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
800		1800		2800
700		1700		2700
600		1600		2600
500		1500		2500
400		1400		2400
300		1300		2300
200		1200		2200
100		1100		2100
100		1100		2100
0 Yar	15	1,000 Yd		2,000 Yd

Search Ob	ject T	ype 1		7. Sea	rch Ob	ject 7	уре 2			8. Se	arch	Object	Туре	3		9. Sear	h Ob	ject T	ype 4	
nstructions: Print out a copy of this template. Then, using Object Placement and Chart Worksheet # 10) plot the known location of each search object. Plot the track distance, ateral range, right/left, and search object type. Indicate the search object type by 1, 2, 3 or . Copy/print the template onto acetate. Place the acetate over each searcher's Detection og (Worksheet # 20) and determine for each search object if a valid detection occurred. or each search object, record on the Detection Scoring (Worksheet # 22) a "1" if a valid etection was made or a "0" if the it was missed.										or Ot on TL LF	Example 400 Object #4 50 m TL=327 50 m LR=50 #4 Right 300 Object Type=1 300									
tection v	vasr	nade o	ora"(D" if th	e it w	as m	nissed								1 1	Ot	ject	Туре	9=1	_
		4,000 Y	d							5,000	Yd		1		1 1			6,000	Yd	1
													_							_
		-	-				_			-		-	-				·			-
+ +		3900	+		+		-			4900		-	+	+				5900		+
			-		-								-							+
		3600	-				_	-		4800		_	-			-	-	5800		_
		-			-		-					-	-					-		
+-+			+		+		-			-			+		++					+
		3700								4700								5700		
												_								
			_		_								_							_
		3600			+		-			4600		-	+	+				5600		+
		3000	-		-		-	-		4000		-	+			_	⊢	5600		+
													-							+
												Ĩ								
		3500	_		_		_			4500		-	_			_		5500		_
		-	-		-		-					-	-				·			-
+			+		+		-			_			+							+
		3400			-					4400							·	5400		+
																				_
		0000								1005			-		+					_
		3300	-		-			-		4300		-	-			-	⊢	5300		
			-		+								+				·			+
									[-		
		3200								4200								5200		
			-		-		_					_	-							_
+										-			+		++					+
		3100			-					4100			-					5100		-
																				_
		3,000 Y	d							4,000	Yd							5,000 Yd		

Detection Scoring (22)

Page 1 of 2

Detection	า	1. Searcher's Name			2. Searcher Num	ber	3. Data Logger's	Name	4. Date	
Scoring										
i. Search Object	1	6. Search Obj	ect 2	7. Search Obj	ect 3	8. Search Obje	ct 3	7. Location	-	
alid detectio nade after O orm. Record olumn blank cored Detec	n occurred. bject Placer l a one "1" i . Staple tog tion Scoring	Record a z ment and Ch in the approp gether the fo g (Workshee	ero "0" in th nart (Worksh priate search llowing form at # 22). The	e appropria leet # 10) w n object colu lis; the Sear results from	eet # 20) and t te search objec as printed and umn if that sea cher Profile (W n this paper for eep Width valu	ct column if the during searce rch object wat forksheet # 1 m will be inp	he search obj ch object set- as detected. 9), the Detect outted into the	ject was miss up, make cha Leave the ot tion Log (Wo	sed. If chan anges by ha her search o orksheet # 2	ges were nd on this bject 0), and the
Location	Search	Detections	Detections	Detections		Location	Detections	Detections	Detections	Detection
Number	Object 1	Object 2	Object 3	Object 4		Number	Object 1	Object 2	Object 3	Object 4
1 2					-	51 52				
3					ł	52				
4					ł	53				
5					t	55				
6					1	56				
7]	57				
8					l	58				
9					Į	59				
10					ł	60				
<u>11</u> 12					ł	61 62				
12					ł	62				
14					ł	64				
15					t	65				
16					İ	66				
17					1	67				
18]	68				
19						69				
20						70				
21					ł	71				
22					-	72 73				
23					ł	73				
25					1	75				
26					1	76				
27					1	77				
28					1	78				
29]	79				
30					Į	80				
31					Į	81				
32					ł	82				
33 34					ł	83 84				
35					ł	85				
36					t	86				
37					1	87				
38					1	88				
39					l	89				
40					Į	90				
41					Į	91				
42					ł	92				
43 44					ł	93 94				
44					ł	94				
45					ł	95				
40					ł	97				
48					t	98				
49					t	99				
50				l	t	100			-	

Detection Scoring (22)

Page	2	of	2
------	---	----	---

Location	Search	Detections	Detections	Detections
Number	Object 1	Object 2	Object 3	Object 4
101				
102				
103				
104				
105				

Loc	ation	Detections	Detections	Detections	Detections
Nu	mber	Object 1	Object 2	Object 3	Object 4

106		
107		
108		
109		
110		

This page intentionally left blank.

Appendix G. Scientific Background

B.O. Koopman (1946, 1980) established the basis for a rigorous study of search theory and practice with his pioneering work for the U.S. Navy during WWII. Prior to his work there was no published scientific literature on search theory. Koopman was a member of the Navy's Operations Evaluation Group (OEG). An important characteristic of this group was that its members were required to spend several years in the field working directly with operations personnel. All work produced by this group had to be both scientifically sound and practical enough for operational use by Navy personnel without requiring them to have any special scientific training. It also had to show practical results. The work initially done by the OEG was instrumental in winning the Battle of the Atlantic against the German Uboats. Although this kind of application may seem far removed from searching for lost persons on land, the basic theory of search Koopman established applies to all types of searching. An essential part of Koopman's work was developing the concept of effective search (or sweep) width—an objective numeric measure of how easy or hard it is for a given sensor to detect a given object in a given operating environment. Whenever the basic theory has been applied, substantial improvements in search success rates and reductions in the average times and resources required to achieve success have been realized. It is Koopman's work that will form the basis for the effective sweep width estimation technique developed in this paper. For a detailed yet readable elaboration on the development of the theory see Frost (1999a, 1999b, 1999c, & 1999d).

Although search theory was applied to military SAR operations during and after WWII, the U. S. Coast Guard provided the first comprehensive application to civil SAR in the 1950s. The methodology was incorporated into the first edition of the *National Search and Rescue Manual* in 1959 and it quickly gained acceptance by maritime SAR agencies worldwide. It has remained in global use ever since. Various practical improvements and modifications to search planning techniques and data have been made over the years, but the application of the underlying theory remains unchanged, as shown in the *International Aeronautical and Maritime Search and Rescue Manual (IAMSAR Manual, 1999)* published jointly by the *International Maritime Organization* and the *International Civil Aviation Organization* and recognized globally as the standard text on aeronautical and maritime SAR operations and methods.

"Detectability"

One of the weaknesses of the original implementation of search theory by the U. S. Coast Guard was that the "detectability" data available until the late 1970s reflected primarily maximum detection ranges for maritime SAR objects such as life rafts. There is only a very loose relationship between maximum detection range and the measure of detectability known as the effective search (or sweep) width. In other words, the data originally available were not a very good measure of detectability and they tended to be optimistic, producing effective sweep width estimates, and POD values, that were larger than they should have been.

In 1978 the U.S. Coast Guard Research & Development Center began an extensive data collection project to measure the effective sweep widths for a wide variety of realistic SAR objects, under realistic environmental conditions using actual Coast Guard crews and Search

and Rescue Units (SRUs). The experiments were conducted over a period of more than twenty years. The data collected and the lessons learned during this series of experiments formed the basis for the *National SAR Manual* and *IAMSAR Manual* sweep width tables and search planning guidance, including POD estimation. In developing the methodology for the estimation of effective sweep width for land search we have drawn on the experience of the maritime SAR community while acknowledging the considerable differences in search techniques and environments found on land. The common link between evaluating detectability in the maritime and land environments is that each searcher/search object interaction is resolved as either a detection or a non-detection.

Lateral Range

The method for estimating effective sweep width uses the concept of a "lateral range curve". This concept, introduced by Koopman (1946), has a number of properties that recommend it for sweep width estimation. Lateral range refers to the perpendicular distance an object is to the left or right of the searcher's track where the track passes the object. Thus it represents the distance from the searcher to the object at the closest point of approach (CPA). A lateral range curve is a plot of the probability of detecting the object on a single pass as a function of the object's lateral range from the searcher's track, i.e., as a function of how closely the searcher approaches the object. Figure 2-1 shows a hypothetical relationship between POD on a single pass and an arbitrary scale of distances to the left (negative) and right (positive) of the searcher's track.



Figure G-1. A lateral range curve (a.k.a. detection profile).

Koopman (1946) derived this particular relationship from the physical geometry of an aircraft flying over the ocean in search of an object on the surface. Negative values are distances to the left of the searcher's track while positive values are distances to the right of the searcher's track.

Visual search (as anyone looking for their keys knows) is highly dependent on distance. This is largely due to the simple physics of the eye, the closer the object the greater the visual angle. The visual angle versus distance for the two different size search objects used in the experiments (adult and glove) is shown in Figure G-2. It can be noted how closely the simple physics of the eye matches the lateral range curve (detection profile) shown in Fig. G-

1. At first one would think that the important measure in any detection is the actual range at which the detection takes place. This begs the question of what range should be assigned to a non-detection when the searcher passes the object without detecting it. The answer is that the non-detection may take place at all ranges down to and including the closest point of approach (CPA) or the "lateral range" value. It is also true that an object may be detectable for some time before it actually *is* detected. That is, detections may occur at any distance between the point where the searcher first gets close enough to make detection possible down to the CPA and then beyond to where detection is no longer possible. Therefore, both detection and non-detection events will be referenced to the lateral range or off-track distance.



Figure G-2. Angle versus range of adult (body) and glove (clue).

The lateral range method also functions as a natural integrator of the effects various factors have on the detection process during the experiment. Even in a fairly constant environment, many factors may affect detection. The searcher may look elsewhere just at the time the object appears in an opening in the vegetation; wind or rain may affect visibility at a particular point; one searcher may have better scanning technique or eyesight than another; or the object may require several glimpses to register on the consciousness of the searcher, especially if it has a low contrast with its surroundings. For each searcher participating in a detection experiment, the lateral range concept makes detection data collection a matter of answering a simple question: "Did the searcher detect the object as he/she passed it or did the searcher not detect it?"

Effective Sweep Width

Sweep width is one of the central concepts of search theory and its application to SAR. The term *sweep width* has a specific mathematical definition different from what one might infer from the usual meanings of its component words. Therefore, we should discuss the term at least briefly before proceeding further and provide at least one or more informal definitions. References to more complete and mathematically rigorous discussions will be provided.

Sweep width is a single number characterizing the average ability of a given sensor to detect a particular search object under a specific set of environmental conditions. Thus each combination of sensor, search object, and set of environmental conditions will have a particular associated sweep width. In the vernacular, sweep width might be called a measure of "raw detection power." Loosely paraphrasing Koopman (1980), sweep width may be described as follows:

Consider a sensor moving with constant velocity through (or over) a swarm of uniformly distributed, identical, stationary search objects under constant environmental conditions. If the average number of objects detected per unit time is divided by the object density (average number of objects per unit area), the resulting value is called the *effective search or sweep rate*. It is easy to see that the effective sweep rate has dimensions of area over time (e.g. square miles per hour). Dividing the effective sweep rate by the speed of the sensor gives the *effective search or sweep width*, which has units of length.

Notice that the above description does not imply that every object in the "swept area" is detected. Indeed, the meaning of "swept area" itself is not clear. To clarify how the term *sweep width* got its name, we will give an alternative description (also loosely derived from Koopman, 1980):

Consider an omnidirectional sensor that is "perfect" (i.e. 100% effective) within some definite range and completely ineffective beyond that range. That is, detection is guaranteed for any object the sensor approaches more closely than the definite detection range, and the sensor never detects any object beyond that range. This idea is analogous to setting a lawn mower's blade to a height of zero and then pushing it into tall grass. The lawn mower would leave behind it a swath of bare earth having a definite width (twice the definite detection range), while blades of grass outside this width would be untouched. Inserting this particular sensor into the previous description, it is easily seen that in this special case (and this special case alone), the sweep width is literally the width of the swept area where the detections took place, i.e. twice the definite detection range. The concept is generalized by defining the *effective sweep width* of any sensor as equal to the sweep width of a definite range sensor that detects the same number of objects per unit time as the given sensor does under identical circumstances (i.e., same sensor speed, same object density, same environmental conditions). Generally the word effective is dropped, shortening the term to just sweep width. This is sometimes a source of confusion to new students of search theory and also to search planners in the field.

We see that in only one situation, namely definite range detection, does the sweep width actually correspond to a physical, geometric width measurement. Otherwise, it is a more abstract concept, but nevertheless one of great value and utility on both the theoretical and operational fronts. Additional treatments of the sweep width concept, some with illustrations, may be found in Koopman (1980), Stone (1989), and Frost (1998c, 1999a).

Unfortunately, sweep width cannot be measured directly for cases other than definite range detection. This is one reason why it is difficult to explain. Another reason is the ease with which the term "sweep width" is confused with other, sometimes similar, terms that have quite different meanings and uses. We will now rectify this problem by giving several different, but equivalent, descriptions of what sweep width represents.

For all of the following descriptions, assume that search objects are uniformly, but randomly, spread over an area. A uniform random distribution means that the search object locations occur at random so their positions cannot be predicted, but the number of objects per unit of area is about the same everywhere. Also assume that the area covered with objects is very large compared to the maximum detection range.

Suppose an experiment was done where every searcher detected every object within a given lateral range, say 10 meters either side of the searcher's track, and detected no objects outside that range. That is, the searchers were 100% effective within 10 meters on either side of their track, and completely ineffective for objects farther from the searcher's track. This would constitute a "clean sweep" of a swath 20 meters wide with no detections outside that swath. The effective sweep width in this case would be 20 meters. In this "ideal" but unrealistic example, the effective sweep width is the same as the width of the swath where objects were detected.

Now suppose another experiment is done in another venue using the same number of objects per unit of area. Further suppose that the searchers in this experiment find objects that are up to 20 meters either side of their tracks, but they detect, on average, only half the objects located in that swath of 40 meters. Note that there will be twice as many objects in a 40 meters swath as in a 20 meters swath of the same length. Therefore, even though the searchers detect only half of those present in the 40 meter swath, they will detect just as many objects in one pass as the searchers in the previous experiment did. In this sense the two groups of searchers performed equivalently despite any differences in terrain, vegetation, searcher training, etc. So, for purposes of estimating how many objects will be detected in one pass, we would say the *effective sweep width* in both cases was 20 meters. That is, both groups of searchers detected the same number of objects as lay in a swath 20 meters wide even though only the first group did this in a literal sense.

This illustrates the difference between effective sweep width and maximum detection range. While it is possible to say that the width of the swath where searchers *can* detect objects will normally be about twice the maximum detection range, there is no way to predict from that information alone how many of the objects present in that swath *will* be detected, even if the number of objects present per unit of area is known. The effective sweep width, on the other

hand, does allow us to estimate how many detections we should expect provided we also know the number of objects present per unit of area. Simply multiply the effective sweep width by the length of the searcher's track to get the area effectively swept then multiply this value by the number of objects per unit of area to get the number of detections that should be expected. Note that this value does not depend in any way on the maximum detection range and there is no known mathematical relationship between the two. Having a maximum detection range in one situation that is twice that of another situation does *not* mean objects in the first situation are twice as detectable, on average, as objects in the second situation. In fact, it is actually possible that a small, high-contrast object might have a very large maximum detection range in a given environment under just the right circumstances but be less detectable on average in that environment than a larger object with less contrast and a smaller maximum detection range. Knowing the maximum detection range does not help with POD estimation. But, the results of this report suggest that extensive and repeated experimentation may discern a relationship between the average maximum detection range (AMDR) and effective sweep width for a specific environment. Also note that just as knowing the maximum detection range does not tell us the effective sweep width, knowing the effective sweep width provides no information about the maximum detection range. However, knowing the effective sweep width gives us a way to reliably estimate POD since it is a measure of expected detection performance.

The effective sweep width may be thought of as the width of the swath where the number of objects *NOT detected inside* the swath are equal to the number of objects that *ARE detected outside* the swath. That is, when one gets to the point where the number of objects missed within a certain distance either side of track (areas B above the curve in Figure G-3) equals the number that are detected at greater distances from the searcher's track (areas A below the curve in Figure G-3), then one has found the effective sweep width.



Figure G-3. A lateral range curve showing effective sweep width. The number of missed detections (B) inside the effective sweep width equals the number of detections (A) that occur outside the sweep width.

For the more mathematically inclined who are familiar with calculus, the effective sweep width is also numerically equal to the total area under the lateral range curve down to the horizontal axis of the graph. One way to estimate effective sweep width from experimental data is to analyze the detection/non-detection results to first get an estimate of the lateral range curve and then compute the area under that curve. However, this is significantly more difficult than some other data analysis methods.

Finally, if detection were perfect (100% POD) within a swath of width *W* and completely ineffective (0% POD) outside that swath, then the effective sweep width would be *W*. That is, if a "clean sweep" were possible with no detections outside the swept swath, the width of the swath would be, by definition, the effective sweep width. Sensors with perfect detection within some definite maximum detection range and perfectly sharp cutoffs at that definite maximum detection range do not exist. However, this perspective on sweep width reveals another important property: The effective sweep width can never exceed twice the maximum detection range. It is almost always considerably less than that value, but just how much less depends on the search situation and all the factors affecting detection. It is not possible to establish any general mathematical relationship between maximum detection range and effective sweep width.

Figures G-4, G-5, and G-6 below illustrate the concept of effective sweep width in another way. The black dots in Figure G-4 represent identical search objects that have been scattered randomly but approximately uniformly over an area. The distribution is "uniform" because in any reasonably large fraction of the area there are about the same number of objects as in any other fraction of the same size. The distribution is "random" because the exact location of each object was chosen at random to avoid producing either a predictable pattern or a bias favoring one portion of the area over another.



Figure G-4. A uniform random distribution of search objects.

Figure G-5 shows the effect of a "clean sweep" where all of the objects within a swath are detected and no objects outside the swath are sighted. In this case the effective sweep width

is literally the width of the swept swath. A total of 40 objects lay within the sweep width and all 40 were detected, as indicated by the empty circles. A "clean sweep" where the searcher/sensor is 100% effective out to some definite range either side of the track is unrealistic, but it serves to illustrate the sweep width principle.





Figure G-6 represents a more realistic situation where objects are detected over a wider swath, but not all the objects within that swath are found. In this case, the total number of objects detected was also 40 but instead of making a "clean sweep," the detections are more widely distributed. However, because in both cases 40 objects were detected over the same length of searcher track when the number of objects per unit of area was also the same, we say the *effective* sweep widths for both cases are equal.

Effective sweep width is a measure of detectability because, in a hypothetical situation where the average number of objects per unit of area is known, if we know the sweep width we can accurately predict how many of the objects will be found, on average, by single searchers on one pass through the area. As we will show later in this report, knowing the sweep width for a given combination of sensor (e.g., visual search), search object (e.g., a person) and environment (weather, terrain, vegetation, etc.) will allow us to accurately predict the probability of detection for any search conducted under those or similar conditions.





Figure G-6. Effective Sweep Width. Dotted line represents searcher's track. Number missed within sweep width = 11. Number detected outside sweep width = 11.

Figure G-6 also illustrates the property of effective sweep width where the number of undetected objects inside the swath equals the number of objects detected outside that swath.

To summarize: Sweep width is the metric used for estimating an object's detectability for a given search scenario. It is a single number having the dimensions of length. It may be derived from the lateral range curve that is produced from detection/non-detection data of an experiment that is appropriately designed and performed. It has the property that, on average, the number of search objects detected outside the effective sweep width is numerically equal to the number of search objects not detected within the effective sweep width (Figures G-3 and G-6). It is used together with the amount of effort expended in a given area (e.g., a search segment) and the size of the area to get an objective, reliable, and accurate estimate of POD.

As a practical matter, it is not possible to directly "measure" sweep width at the place and time of a search. It is also impossible to develop sweep width values for the infinitely many possible combinations of sensor, search object, and environmental conditions. The Coast Guard has addressed these problems by designing and conducting numerous experiments to gather empirical data from which operationally useful sweep width estimates may be inferred. The Coast Guard's Research and Development Center has been conducting such experiments for more than twenty years, identifying the significant variables affecting operational sweep widths in the marine environment and producing extensive sweep width tables indexed to these variables. These tables are published in the U. S. *National SAR Supplement* (National Search and Rescue Committee [NSARC], 2000) and in a simplified

derivative form in the *International Aeronautical and Maritime Search and Rescue Manual* (ICAO/IMO, 1999a-c).

"Effort" and "Search Effort" (Area Effectively Swept)

Effort is a measure of resource expenditure and may be defined as the amount of distance covered by the searcher(s) in a search segment while searching. It could be measured in several ways, but the usual metric for search theory purposes is the distance a sensor platform travels while in the search segment. A search segment is defined as some bounded geographic area that a particular resource, such as a team of searchers, has been assigned to search. The distance a searcher covers while searching may be estimated by either estimating or recording the amounts of time spent searching (exclusive of rest or meal breaks, transit times to and from the assigned segment, etc.) and multiplying that value by the estimated average search speed using the familiar formula,

$$d = rt$$

for *d* istance equals *r* ate times *t* ime. When a team of searchers is assigned a given segment, the total distance traveled by all members of the team will be needed. This value may be found by summing all the individual team member distances or, if all members moved at about the same speeds for about the same amounts of time while searching, then the distance covered by one searcher could be multiplied by the number of persons in the team to get the total distance covered in the segment. That is,

$$Effort = \sum_{i=1}^{n} d_i$$
 or $Effort = nd$

where n is the number of searchers on the search team.

Search effort is a measure of how much "effective" searching is done by the sensor as it moves through the search area. *Search effort* is simply the product of the sweep width and the distance the sensor travels while in the search area or:

It is easy to see that search effort has units of area. It is often called area effectively swept.

Coverage

Coverage (sometimes called *coverage factor*) is a relative measure of how thoroughly an area has been searched, or "covered." *Coverage* is defined as the ratio of the area effectively swept to the physical area of the segment that was searched:

$$Coverage = \frac{Area \, Effectively \, Swept}{Segment' \, s \, Area}$$

Volume II – Appendixes -- Page 50

Searching an area and achieving a *coverage* of 1.0 therefore means that the *area effectively swept* equals the area searched. Note that this does not necessarily mean that every piece of ground was scanned nor does it mean that the POD of a coverage 1.0 search is at or near 100%. Coverage is a measure of how "thoroughly" the segment was searched. The higher the coverage, the higher the POD will be. However, the relationship is not linear. That is, doubling the coverage does not double the POD. Figure G-7 (POD versus Coverage curve) shows the relationship between coverage and POD as derived by Koopman (1946, 1980) for situations where searchers do not move along a set of long, perfectly straight, parallel, equally spaced tracks but instead follow more irregular paths.

It is important to always remember that coverage and the corresponding level of effort are proportional. To double the coverage it is necessary to double the level of effort and doubling the level of effort doubles the coverage. In other words, although the relationship between POD and coverage is not linear, the relationship between coverage and effort is. This means, by extension, that the relationship between effort and POD is not linear, either. Doubling the effort assigned to a segment will not generally double the POD.

Since terrain and vegetation often prevent ground searchers from following a mathematically precise pattern of parallel tracks, and since ground searchers frequently alter their tracks to investigate possible sightings, look behind major obstructions, etc., the exponential detection function, as the curve in Figure 2-7 is called, seems to be the most appropriate for estimating ground search POD. This curve also works well when other "random" influences are present, such as uneven terrain and vegetation, even when the searcher tracks are perfectly straight, parallel, and equally spaced. The equation of this curve is

$$POD = 1 - e^{-Coverage}$$

where *e* is the base of the natural logarithms (approximately 2.718282). The function e^x or EXP is available with most handheld scientific calculators and electronic spreadsheet programs.

It can be seen that *coverage* is proportional to *search effort density*, the constant of proportionality being the *sweep width*. Therefore, any solution to the optimal search density problem is also a solution to the optimal coverage problem. In this sense, the two terms may be used interchangeably when discussing optimal search plans.

Probability of Detection (POD)

The probability of detection (POD) is defined as the *conditional* probability that the search object will be detected during a single sortie *if* the search object is present in the area searched during the sortie. Cumulative POD (POD_{cum}) is the cumulative probability of detecting the search object given that it was in the searched area on each of several successive searches of that area. Like coverage, it is a measure of how thoroughly an area was searched. The relationship between coverage and POD is usually plotted on a graph of POD vs. Coverage. Such a graph appears in Figure G-7.



Figure G-7. POD vs. Coverage (Koopman, 1946)

POD in itself is not the goal of search planning as some of the land search literature has suggested. POD is merely one part of a larger system.



Volume II - Appendixes -- Page 53

Appendix I. References

- Bailey, R.G. (1995). Description of the Ecoregions of the United States, Miscellaneous Publication 1391. Washington, D.C.: US Dept of Agriculture.
- Benkoski, S.J., Monticino, M.G., & Weisinger, J.R. (1991). A survey of the search theory literature. *Naval Research Logistics*, *38*, pp. 469-494.
- Benkoski, S.J. (1978). CAS operational summary, COMPATWINGSPAC memorandum 15 may. (Secret Noforn).
- Brown, S.S. (1980). Optimal search for a moving target in discrete time and space. *Operations Research, 28*, pp. 1275-1289.
- Bucklin, B.L. (1971). *Field dependence and visual detection ability*. U. S. Army, Picatinny Arsenal.
- Charnes, A., & Cooper, W.W. (1958). The theory of search: optimal distribution of search effort. *Management Science*, *5*, pp. 44-50.
- Conner, R.N., & O'Halloran, K.A. (1986). A comparison of the MacArthur foliage density estimate with actual leaf surface area and biomass. *Southwest. Nat.*, *31*, 270-273.
- Cooper, D.C., Frost, J.R., & Robe, R.Q. (2003). Compatibility of land SAR procedures with search theory. Prepared for the National Search and Rescue Committee, USCG Contract Number DTCG39-00-D-R00009. Alexandria, VA: Potomac Management Group, Inc. Retrieved on 18 April 2006 from http://www.uscg.mil/hq/g-o/gopr/nsarc/LandSearchMethodsReview.pdf
- Cooper, D.C., & Frost, J.R. (1999a). *Selected inland search definitions*. Private Publication, 24 June 1999, Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio, U.S.A.
- Cooper, D.C., & Frost, J.R. (1999b). *Proportion-based consensus: Establishing initial POA values.* Private Publication, 6 August 1999, Cuyahoga Falls, Ohio, U.S.A.
- Cozzolino, J.M. (1972). Sequential search for an unknown number of objects of nonuniform size. *Operations Research 20*, pp. 293-308.
- Dobbie, J.M. (1968). A survey of search theory. Operations Research, 16, pp. 525-537.
- Edwards, N.C., Osmer, S.R., Mazour, T.J., & Hover, G.L. (1981). *Factors affecting coast guard SAR unit visual detection performance*. Groton, Connecticut: USCG Research and Development Center.
- Enslow, P.H. (1966). A bibliography of search theory and reconnaissance theory literature. *Naval Research Logistics Quarterly, 13*, pp. 177-202.

- Frost, J. R. (2001). *Review of Search theory: Advances and applications to search and rescue decision support*, U. S. Coast Guard Office of Operations (G-OPR).
- Frost, J.R. (2001). Comparing SARPlan with manual methods and actual cases. Prepared for Defence Research Establishment Valcartier [DREV], Contractor Report Number W7701-001992/001/QCA, Fairfax, Virginia: Soza & Company, Ltd.
- Frost, J.R. (1999a). Principles of search theory, part I: Detection. Response, 17(2), pp. 1-7.
- Frost, J.R. (1999b). Principles of search theory, part II: Effort, coverage, and POD. *Response*, *17*(2), pp. 8-15.
- Frost, J.R. (1999c). Principles of search theory, part III: Probability density distributions. *Response*, *17*(*3*), pp. 1-10.
- Frost, J.R. (1999d). Principles of search theory, part IV: Optimal effort allocation. *Response*, *17*(*3*), pp. 11-23.
- Frost, J.R. (1998a). *What's missing from ground search theory*. Fairfax, Virginia: Soza and Company, Ltd.
- Frost, J.R. (1998b). Search theory enhancement study: prepared for interagency committee on search and rescue research and development working group. Fairfax, Virginia: Soza and Company, Ltd.
- Frost, J.R. (1998c). *The theory of search: a simplified explanation*. (Rev. ed.). Fairfax, Virginia: Soza and Company, Ltd. & U.S. Coast Guard.
- Gorry, G.A., Kassirer, J.P., Essig, A.E., & Schwartz, W.B. (1973). Decision analysis basis for computer-aided management of acute renal failure. *American Journal of Medicine*, 55, pp. 473-484.
- Haley, K.B., and Stone, L.D. (1980). Search theory and applications. Nato Conference series, Series II: System Science. Published in cooperation with NATO Scientific Affairs Division. New York and London: Plenum Press.
- Harbaugh, J.W., Doveton, J.H., & Davis, J.C. (1977). *Probability methods in oil exploration*. New York, New York: John Wiley & Sons.
- Hover, G.L. & Robe, R.Q. (November, 1987). "Operational realism vs. data collection requirements and methods." *Proceedings of the ITEA '87 Symposium*, Boston, Massachusetts.

- International Maritime Organization and International Civil Aviation Organization (IMO/ICAO). (1999a). International Aeronautical and Maritime Search and Rescue Manual: Vol. I. Organization and Management. London/Montreal: the International Maritime Organization (IMO) and the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO).
- International Maritime Organization and International Civil Aviation Organization (IMO/ICAO). (1999b). International Aeronautical and Maritime Search and Rescue Manual: Vol. II. Mission Co-ordination. London/Montreal: the International Maritime Organization (IMO) and the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO).
- International Maritime Organization and International Civil Aviation Organization (IMO/ICAO). (1999c). *International Aeronautical and Maritime Search and Rescue Manual: Vol. III. Mobile Facilities*. London/Montreal: the International Maritime Organization (IMO) and the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO).
- Koopman, B.O. (1946). Search and screening (OEG Report No. 56, The Summary Reports Group of the Columbia University Division of War Research). Alexandria, Virginia: Center for Naval Analyses.
- Koester, R.J., Cooper, D.C., Frost, J.R., & Robe, R.Q. (2004). Sweep width estimation for ground search and rescue. Prepared for the National Search and Rescue Committee, USCG Contract Number DTCG32-02-D-R00010. Alexandria, VA: Potomac Management Group, Inc. Retrieved on 18 April 2006 from http://www.uscg.mil/hq/go/g-opr/nsarc/LandSweepWidthDemoReportFinal.pdf
- Koopman, B.O. (1953). The optimum distribution of effort. *Operations Research*, *1*, pp. 52-63.
- Koopman, B.O. (1956a). The theory of search, Part I, Kinematic bases. *Operations Research*, *4*, pp. 324-346.
- Koopman, B.O. (1956b). The theory of search, Part II, Target detection. *Operations Research*, *4*, pp. 503-531.
- Koopman, B.O. (1957). The theory of search, Part III, The optimum distribution of searching effort. *Operations Research*, *5*, pp. 613-626.
- Koopman, B.O. (1967). Search and information theory: Part of final report on stochastic processes in certain naval operations. Presented in preliminary form before the Operations Research Society of America, Chicago meeting, 1 November 1967.
- Koopman, B.O. (1979). Search and its optimization. *American Mathematical Monthly*, 86(7), August-September, pp. 527-540.
- Koopman, B.O. (1980). Search and screening: General principles with historical applications. Revised. New York, NY: Pergamon Press.

- Lamar, E., Hect, S., Shlaer, S., & Hendley, D. (1947). Size, shape, and contrast in detection of targets by daylight vision. I. Data and analytical description. J. Opt Soc. Am, 37:531-45.
- Macarthur, R.H. & MacArthur, J.W. (1961). On bird species diversity. *Ecology*, 42, 594-598.
- McCoy, K.F. (1978). Operational ASW search information system (OASIS), COMPATWINGSPAC memorandum 7 March. (confidential).
- Moore, M.L. (1970). A review of search and reconnaissance theory literature. Department of industrial engineering technical report, University of Michigan.
- Morse, P.M. (October, 1970). Search theory and browsing. *The Library Quarterly*, October 1970.
- Morse, P.M. (1982). In memoriam: Bernard Osgood Koopman, 1900-1981. *Operations Research*, *30*, pp. 417-427.
- Morse, P.M. and Kimball, G.E. (1946). *Methods of operations research: OEG report 54*. Operations Evaluation Group, Office of the Chief of Naval Operations, U.S. Navy Department, Washington, D.C.: U.S. Superintendent of Documents.
- National Park Service [NPS]. (2004). *Shenandoah national park web site*. Retrieved September 24, 2004, from http://www.nps.gov/shen/home.htm
- National Search and Rescue Committee [NSARC]. (1999). United states national search and rescue plan. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Superintendent of Documents.
- National Search and Rescue Committee [NSARC]. (2000). United states national search and rescue supplement to the international aeronautical and maritime search and rescue manual. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Superintendent of Documents.
- National Search and Rescue Committee [NSARC] Research and Development Working Group. (2001). *Report of meeting of land search planning experts*. Meeting held 24 March 2001 in Laurel, Maryland, U.S.A.
- Paloheimo, J.E. (1971). On a theory of search. Biometrika, 58, pp. 61-75.
- Papoulis, A. (1984). *Probability, random variables, and stochastic processes*. Second Edition. New York: McGraw-Hill, pp. 38-39, 78-81, and 112-114.
- Pollock, S. (1967). *Search, detection, and reconnaissance selection bibliography*. Department of Operations Analysis, U.S. Naval Post Graduate School.

- Richardson, H.R., & Stone, L.D. (1971). Operations analysis during the underwater search for Scorpion. *Naval Research Logistics*, 18, pp. 141-157.
- Richardson, H.R. (1967). Operations analysis. Chapter V of Part 2 in Aircraft Salvage Operation, Mediterrainean: Report to Chief of Naval Operations from the Supervisor of Salvage and the Deep Submergence Systems Project, Washington, D.C.: U.S. Navy.
- Robe, R.Q., & Frost, J.R. (2002). A method for determining effective sweep widths for land searches: Procedures for conducting detection experiments. Prepared for the National Search and Rescue Committee, USCG Contract Number DTCG39-00-D-R00009. Alexandria, VA: Potomac Management Group, Inc. Retrieved on 18 April 2006 from http://www.uscg.mil/hq/g-o/g-opr/nsarc/LandSweepWidthDemoReportFinal.pdf
- Robe, R.Q., Raunig, D.L., Plourde, J.V., & Marsee, R.L. (1992). Evaluation of night vision goggles (NVG) for maritime search and rescue (Summary NVG Report). Groton, Connecticut: USCG Research and Development Center.
- Robe, R.Q., Plourde, J.V., & Marsee, R.L. (1991). Evaluation of night vision goggles (NVG) for maritime search and rescue (Joint Canadian/US Coast Guard Experiment). Groton, Connecticut: USCG Research and Development Center.
- Robe, R.Q. & Hover, G.L. (1986). *Visual sweep width determination for three visual distress signaling devices*. Groton, Connecticut: USCG Research and Development Center.
- Stone, L.D. (1992). Search for the SS central America: mathematical treasure hunting. *Interfaces*, 22, pp. 32-54.
- Stone, L.D. (1989). *Theory of optimal search* (Second ed.). Military Applications Section, Operations Research Society of America. Arlington, Virginia: ORSA Books.
- Stone, L.D. (1984). Generalized search optimization. In *Statistical Signal Processing*, E.J. Wegman & J.G. Smith, Eds. New York, New York: Marcel Dekker, Inc.
- Stone, L.D. (1983). The process of search planning: Current approaches and continuing problems. *Operations Research*, *31*, No 2, pp. 207-233.
- Stromquist, W.R., & Stone, L.D. (1981). Constrained optimization of functionals with search theory applications. *Mathematics of Operations Research*, *6*, pp. 518-529.
- Strumpfer, J. (1980). *Search theory index*. Technical Note No. TN-017-80, Simonstown, South Africa: Institute for Maritime Technology.
- Tilley, A., & Dreyfuss, H. (1993). *The measure of man and woman: Human factors in design*.New York, NY: Whitney Library of Design, an imprint of Watson-Guptill Publications.

Volume II – Appendixes -- Page 58

- United States Coast Guard Research and Development [USCG R&D] Center. (2001). *Review of search theory: advances and applications to search and rescue decision support*. Prepared for U.S. Department of Transportation, U.S. Coast Guard (G-OPR), Report No. CG-D-15-01, Washington, D.C.: U.S. Coast Guard.
- United States Department of Agriculture [USDA] Forest Service. (2004a). *Gifford pinchot national forest web site*. Retrieved from http://www.fs.fed.us/gpnf on September 25, 2004.
- United States Department of Agriculture [USDA] Forest Service. (2004b). *Lincoln national forest web site*. Retrieved from http://www.fs.fed.us/r3/lincoln/ on September 25, 2004.
- United States Navy. (1944). *Methods for locating survivors adrift at sea on rubber rafts*. H. O. No. 235. Washington, D.C.: U. S. Navy Hydrographic Office.
- Wagner, D.H. (1989). *Naval tactical decision aids*. Monterey, CA: Naval Postgraduate School.
- Washburn, A.R. (2002). *Search and detection*. Fourth ed. Linthicum, Maryland: Institute for Operations Research and the Management Sciences.
- Washburn, A.R. (1983). Search for a moving target: The fab algorithm. *Operations Research*, 31, pp. 739-751.
- Washburn, A.R. (1981). An upper bound useful in optimizing search for a moving target. *Operations Research*, 29, pp. 1227-1230.
- Wegener, I. (1981). The construction of an optimal distribution of search effort. *Naval Research Logistics Quarterly*, 28, pp. 533-543.
- Weisinger, J.R. (1984). Analytical techniques to estimate lateral range functions for visual detection. Vienna, Virginia: Daniel H. Wagner, Associates.